



**Sacramento County Health Center
Co-Applicant Board**

BOARD BYLAWS

Revision Date: April 16, 2021

Table of Contents

Introduction..... 3

Article I: Purpose 3

Article II: Responsibilities 3

Article III: Limitations of Authority 4

Article IV: Members..... 5

 Section 1: Membership 5

 Section 2: Membership Qualifications..... 5

 Section 3: Member Recruitment, Selection, and Ratification..... 6

 Section 4: Responsibilities and Rights of Members..... 7

Article V: Term of Office 7

Article VI: Removal 8

Article VII: Conflict of Interest..... 8

Article VIII: Compensation 8

Article IX: Meetings 9

 Section 1: Regular Meetings 9

 Section 2: Conduct of Meeting 9

 Section 3: Open and Public..... 9

 Section 4: Notice, Agenda and Supportive Materials 9

 Section 5: Special Meetings 9

 Section 6: Quorum and Voting Requirements 10

Article X: Officers Interest..... 10

 Section 1: Eligibility..... 10

 Section 2: Nomination and Election 10

 Section 3: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair..... 10

 Section 4: Vacancies 11

 Section 5: Responsibilities..... 11

Article XI: Amendments and Dissolution..... 11

Certification 12

Appendix A: Conflict of Interest 13

Introduction

This body shall be known as the Sacramento County Health Center Co-Applicant Board, and shall be hereafter referred to as "CAB". The CAB is also known as "Board" under Health Resources and Services Administration (HRSA). The CAB shall serve as the independent local co-applicant governing board pursuant to the Public Health Services Act and its implementing regulations. The County of Sacramento, a public entity and political subdivision of the State of California, shall act as co-applicant with the CAB.

Article I: Purpose

The CAB is the community-based governing board mandated by the Health Resources Services Administration's ("HRSA") Bureau of Primary Health Care ("BPHC") to set health center policy and provide oversight of the County's Federally Qualified Health Center ("FQHC"), which shall be hereafter referred to as "Health Center".

The CAB shall work cooperatively with the County of Sacramento acting in its role as co-applicant, to support and guide the Health Center in its mission:

Vision: Unparalleled experience as a trusted partner in health care for our Sacramento County community.

Mission: Provide high-quality, caring, and comprehensive healthcare services for our diverse Sacramento County community through partnering with patients, academic institutions, and community-based organizations.

Values: Respect, Compassion, Learning, Excellence, Efficiency, Accountability

Article II: Responsibilities

The CAB has specific responsibilities to meet the governance expectations of HRSA, while day-to-day operational and management authority reside with Sacramento County, Department of Health Services (DHS), Primary Health Services Division staff.

The CAB's responsibilities include providing advice, leadership, and governance in support of the Health Center's mission.

The CAB shall have the following responsibilities:

- A. Hold final authority on all areas assigned to the Health Center's HRSA scope of project, including services and supports provided through HRSA grant funds, program income, and all appropriated funds;
- B. Hold monthly meetings and maintain a record of all official actions;
- C. Approve the annual Health Center budget;
- D. Identification, consultation and selection of services beyond those required in law to be provided, as well as the location, mode of delivery of those services and the hours of operation;

- E. Adopt policies necessary and proper for the efficient and effective operation of the Health Center;
- F. Periodic evaluation of the effectiveness of the Health Center in making services accessible to County residents, particularly those experiencing homelessness;
- G. Develop and implement a procedure for hearing and resolving patient grievances; Approve quality of care protocols and audits;
- H. Delegate credentialing and privileging of providers to the Medical Director of the Health Center, as referenced in the PP CS 07-05 Credentialing and Privileging;
- I. Ensure compliance with federal, state, and local laws and regulations;
- J. Adopt Bylaws;
- K. Approve the selection, performance evaluation, retention, and dismissal of the Health Center's Project Director;
- L. Approve Health Center Sliding Fee Discount policy;
- M. Long-term strategic planning, which would include regular updating of the Health Center's mission, goals, and plans, as appropriate;
- N. Approve HRSA applications related to the Health Center, including grants/designation application and other HRSA requests regarding scope of project;
- O. Ensure new board members are oriented and trained regarding the duties and responsibilities of being a board member of an organization subject to FQHC requirements and satisfying the educational and training needs of existing members; and
- P. Officially, accept the annual audit report and management letter performed by an independent auditor in accordance with federal audit requirements.

NOTE: No individual member shall act or speak for the CAB except as may be specifically authorized by the CAB. Members (other than the Health Center Chief Executive Officer/Project Director) shall refrain from giving personal advice or directives to any staff of the Health Center.

Article III: Limitations of Authority

The Board of Supervisors shall maintain the authority to set general policy on fiscal and personnel matters pertaining to the Health Center, including financial management practices, charges and rate setting, and labor relations and conditions of employment. The CAB may not adopt any policy or practice, or take any action, which is inconsistent with the County Code, or which alters the scope of any policy of the Board of Supervisors regarding fiscal or personnel issues. All policies and practices must adhere to California law, Brown Act requirements, and are subject to the Public Records Act.

The COUNTY through its DHS in consultation with the CAB, shall be solely responsible for the management of the financial affairs of the Health Center, including capital and operating borrowing; for the development and implementation of financial policies and controls related to the Health Center; and receive, manage, allocate, and disburse, as applicable, revenues necessary for the operation of the Health Center.

Article IV: Members

Section 1: Membership

There shall be between nine (9) and thirteen (13) at large voting members of the CAB and one (1) ex-officio non-voting member.

A. Membership categories:

1. Board Members - Consumers:

- a. A majority of members of the board shall be individuals who are served by the Health Center. This means an individual who is a currently registered patient who has accessed Health Center services in the past 24 months and received at least one service.
- b. As a group, patient members of the board reasonably represent individuals who are served by the Health Center in terms of demographic factors such as race, ethnicity gender, socioeconomic status, and age.
- c. At least one representative on the board will be from each targeted population serviced by the Health Center including homelessness, as specifically defined under the section 330 grant.
- d. A legal guardian of a patient who is a dependent child or adult, or a legal sponsor of an immigrant, may also be considered a patient for purposes of board representation.

2. Board Members - Community Members:

- a. Members of the board have a broad range of skills, expertise and perspectives representing the community served by the Health Center.
- b. Members shall be individuals from differing segments of the County with expertise in community affairs, finance, legal affairs, business or other commercial concerns.
- c. Members may be an advocate who has personally experienced being a member of or represent, or have expertise in or work closely with the special population such as individuals experiencing homelessness.

3. The HRSA Project Director, or designee, shall serve as an ex-officio non-voting member of the CAB.

Section 2: Membership Qualifications

- A. No more than half of the Community members may receive more than ten percent (10%) of his or her annual income from the health care industry (health care industry is understood to mean any community clinic or hospital providing health services to low income residents of Sacramento).
- B. All members must work, reside in, or be associated with, Sacramento County. No member of the CAB shall be an employee or an immediate family member (i.e., spouse, child, parent, or sibling, [related by blood, adoption, or marriage]) to such an employee of the Department of Health Services of the County of Sacramento, or CAB officer. No member shall have a financial interest, which would constitute a conflict of interest.

Section 3: Member Recruitment, Selection, and Ratification

A. Establishment of CAB

The initial voting members of the CAB were nominated and appointed by the Board of Supervisors.

B. Continuation of CAB

1. Member Recruitment

The CAB (or a sub-committee appointed for this purpose) develops a recruitment plan each year, to identify and recruit potential members that help fill existing and forecasted gaps in CAB membership including regarding

- a. Member classifications,
- b. Populations represented on the CAB,
- c. Member skills, experience and perspectives; and
- d. Segments of the community about which members have expertise.

The recruitment plan includes strategies designed to effectively reach targeted groups or classes of individuals.

Expiring Terms

- a. Terms end in January. Recruitment for soon to be expiring terms will begin in September so that candidate members can be considered and a new CAB member approved prior to the end of the term.

Vacancies during Terms

- a. The recruitment plan may designate a period during which membership applications will be accepted and reviewed

2. Application Review

The application for CAB membership and instructions for completing and submitting it—as well as information about the Health Center, the CAB, and its role, as well as open seats and deadlines for application—are made widely available to possible members, including on the Health Center website.

- a. Nominations for voting membership on the CAB may be submitted by anyone so long as the nominee meets the membership requirements of these Bylaws.
- b. Nominated individuals must submit an application to provide required information and to verify their interest and ability to serve as CAB members.
- c. Applications are submitted to Health Center staff designated by the HRSA Project Director. Staff verify that applicants meet CAB membership requirements. The names of all applicants who meet the membership requirements are presented to the Governance Committee.
- d. The Governance Committee of the CAB reviews the membership

applications and talk with possible candidates.

3. Approval of CAB members

The CAB (or a designated Committee or staff member) interviews prospective members that meet membership requirements and review their skills, experience, perspectives, and other possible contributions to the CAB. The CAB votes on prospective members.

4. Ratification of CAB members

- a. As outlined in the Co-Applicant Agreement between the CAB and the Sacramento County Board of Supervisors, Once approved by the CAB, Health Center staff provides the names of approved CAB members to the Clerk of the Board or designee.
- b. The Clerk of the Board, or designee, reviews materials and submits for ratification by the Board of Supervisors.
- c. The Clerk of the Board notifies the designated Health Center staff of BOS actions related to CAB members and sends a ratification letter to each new ratified CAB member.

B. Verification of Eligibility of Existing CAB members

1. By December 31st of each calendar year, Health Center staff will verify existing CAB member eligibility. Each CAB member will complete the Co-Applicant Board Member Secondary Attestation Form attesting to their eligibility (in October).

Section 4: Responsibilities and Rights of Members

A. All members must:

1. Attend all CAB meetings, unless excused by the Chair.
2. Be subject to the conflict of interest rules applicable to the Board of Supervisors of the County of Sacramento and the laws of the State of California.

B. Members shall be entitled to receive agendas, minutes, and all other materials related to the CAB, may vote at meetings of the CAB, and may hold office and may chair CAB committees.

Article V: Term of Office

The term of office for CAB members shall be for four (4) years. A member shall be limited to no more than four (4) consecutive terms of membership. The effective date of membership corresponds to the date of appointment.

Any elected member who has served four (4) consecutive, four (4) year terms shall not be eligible for re-election until one (1) year after the end of his or her fourth term. Election to fill a vacancy for less than three (3) years shall not be counted as service of a four (4) year term for this purpose. Unless terminated earlier in accordance with the Bylaws, members shall serve their designated term until their successors are elected and qualified.

Article VI: Removal

Any member may be removed whenever the best interests of the Health Center or the CAB will be served. The member whose removal is placed in issue shall be given prior notice of his/her proposed removal, and a reasonable opportunity to appear and be heard at a meeting of the CAB. A member may be removed pursuant to this section by a vote of two-thirds (2/3) of the total number of members then serving on the CAB.

Continuous and frequent absences from the CAB meetings, without reasonable excuse, shall be among the causes for removal. In the event that any member is, absent without acceptable excuse from three (3) consecutive CAB meetings or from four (4) meetings within a period of six (6) months, the CAB shall automatically consider the removal of such person from the CAB in accordance with the procedures outlined in this Article.

The CAB will accept a written or emailed resignation of a CAB member, or a verbal resignation if given during a full CAB meeting. The CAB Chair or designee will send an email or letter to the CAB member confirming the resignation. Following seven (7) days of receipt of the letter by the CAB, the resignation is accepted.

Article VII: Conflict of Interest

A conflict of interest is a transaction with the Health Center in which a CAB member has a direct or indirect economic or financial interest. Conflict of interest or the appearance of conflict of interest by CAB members, employees, consultants and those who furnish goods or services to the Health Center must be declared. CAB members are required to declare any potential conflicts of interest by completing a *Conflict of Interest: Disclosure and Attestation Statement* per County of Sacramento policy for members appointed to advisory boards (see Appendix A) as well as annually complete the *Co-Applicant Board Conflict of Interest: Disclosure and Attestation Statement* (see Appendix B), in which they attest that they are not,

- An employee of the Sacramento County Health Center; nor
- An immediate family member (i.e., spouses, children, parents, or siblings [through blood, adoption, or marriage]) of an employee or CAB officer.

In situations when a conflict of interest may exist for a member, the member shall declare and explain the conflict of interest. No member of the CAB shall engage in discussion about or vote on a topic where a personal conflict of interest exists for that member. In addition to the requirements imposed by these Bylaws, CAB members shall also be subject to all applicable state and federal conflict of interest laws.

Article VIII: Compensation

Members of the CAB shall serve without compensation from the Health Center. Travel and meal expenses when traveling out of Sacramento County for CAB business shall be approved in advance by the CAB.

Article IX: Meetings

Section 1: Regular Meetings

The CAB shall meet monthly and maintain records/minutes that verify and document the Board is functioning. Where geography or other circumstances make monthly, in-person participation in board meetings burdensome, monthly meetings may be conducted by telephone or other means of electronic communication where all parties can both listen and speak to all other parties.

Section 2: Conduct of Meeting

The meeting shall be conducted in accordance with the most recent edition of The Sturgis Standard Code of Parliamentary Procedure unless otherwise specified by these Bylaws.

Section 3: Open and Public

All meetings will be conducted in accordance with the provisions of the Ralph M. Brown Act, open public meeting law, as amended.

Section 4: Notice, Agenda and Supportive Materials

- A. Written notice of each regular meeting of the CAB, specifying the time, place and agenda items, shall be sent to each member not less than seventy-two (72) hours prior to the meeting except as permitted by the Ralph M. Brown Act. Preparation of the agenda shall be the responsibility of the Chair in conjunction with the Project Director, or his or her designee.
- B. The agenda of each regular meeting shall be posted at the Health Center and on the Health Center's website: <https://dhs.saccounty.net/PRI/Pages/Health%20Center/Co-Applicant%20Board/County-Health-Center-Co-Applicant-Board.aspx>.
- C. Supportive materials for policy decisions to be voted upon shall be distributed to all members along with the agenda. If, on a rare occasion, such prior submission is precluded by time pressures, and if the urgency of a CAB vote is established by the Chair of the CAB, an item may be placed on the agenda although supporting materials are not available in time to be distributed. However, such material shall be available at the meeting.
- D. Items, which qualify as an emergency, can be added to the agenda pursuant to the Ralph M. Brown Act.

Section 5: Special Meetings

- A. To hold a special meeting, advance notice of such meeting shall be given.
- B. The CAB shall hold an annual meeting during November, at such time and place as is established by the Board upon proper notice, for election of new members and officers, and for the transaction of such other businesses as may properly come before the CAB. The annual meeting shall serve as the regular meeting for that month. Notice of the annual meeting shall be given in writing by the Project Director or his or her designee to each member not less than thirty (30) nor more than sixty (60) days prior to the date of such meeting.

Section 6: Quorum and Voting Requirements

- A. A quorum is necessary to conduct business, make recommendations, or approve items. A quorum shall be constituted by the presence of a majority of the appointed members of the CAB.
- B. A majority vote of those CAB members present and voting is required to take any action.
- C. Each member shall be entitled to one (1) vote. Voting must be in person or telephonically; no proxy votes will be accepted.
- D. CAB member attendance at all meetings shall be recorded. Members are responsible for signing the attendance sheet or informing the Chair of their participation by telephone or teleconference software. The names of members attending shall be recorded in the official minutes. Where geography or other circumstances make monthly, in-person participation in board meetings burdensome, monthly meetings may be conducted by telephone or other means of electronic communication where all parties can both listen and speak to all other parties. Attendance will be recorded by the Project Director or his or her designee with a roll call and participation recorded in the official minutes.
- E. The Project Director shall have direct administrative responsibility for the operation of the Health Center and shall attend, or assign a delegate in his/her absence to all meetings of the CAB, but shall not be entitled to vote.

Article X: Officers

Section 1: Eligibility

The Chair and Vice-Chair shall be chosen from among the voting members of the CAB. Members of the CAB shall not be eligible for an officer position until they have served for at least six (6) months with the CAB as an active member. An active member is defined as a member who has attended all meetings, with the exception of up to two (2) excused absences, in the past six months.

Section 2: Nomination and Election

Initial selection of officers upon creation of the CAB transpired at the same CAB Board meeting following the adoption of these Bylaws.

Henceforth, nominations for officers shall be made at the regular October meeting. A nominee may decline nomination.

Officers shall be elected annually by a majority vote of those members present and voting, as the first order of business at the November meeting of the CAB.

Section 3: Appointment of Chair and Vice-Chair

Only members who have been an active member of the CAB for at least six (6) months are eligible to be appointed and serve as officers.

Officers shall be elected for a term of one (1) year, or any portion of an unexpired term thereof. A person shall be limited to no more than four (4) consecutive terms of office. Any elected officer who has served four (4) consecutive, one (1) year terms of office shall not be eligible for re-election until one (1) year after the end of his or her second term of office.

This limitation of consecutive terms may be waived by a majority vote of the CAB (with the officer in question recusing him or herself from the vote) if no other CAB member is willing to serve in that office. A term of office for an officer shall start January 1, and shall terminate December 31, of the same year; however, an officer may serve after his or her term ends until a successor is elected.

Section 4: Vacancies

Vacancies created during the term of an officer shall be filled for the remaining portion of the term by special election by the CAB, at a regular or special meeting in accordance with this Article.

Section 5: Responsibilities

The officers shall have such powers and shall perform such duties as from time to time shall be specified in these Bylaws or other directives of the CAB.

A. Chair

The Chair shall preside over meetings of the CAB, shall serve as Chair of the Executive Committee, and shall perform the other specific duties prescribed by these Bylaws or that may from time to time be prescribed by the CAB.

B. Vice-Chair

The Vice-Chair shall perform the duties of the Chair in the latter's absence and shall provide additional duties that may from time to time be prescribed by the CAB.

Article XI: Amendments and Dissolution

A. Amendments

The Bylaws may be repealed or amended, or new Bylaws may be adopted at any meeting of the CAB at which a quorum is present, by two-thirds (2/3) of those present and voting. At least fourteen (14) days written notice must be given to each member of the intention as to alter, amend, repeal, or to adopt new Bylaws at such meetings, as well as the written alteration, amendment or substitution proposed. Any revisions and amendments must be approved by the CAB. County Board of Supervisors must approve any change that alters or conflicts with their action establishing CAB.

B. Dissolution

Dissolution of the CAB shall only be by affirmative vote of the CAB and County Board of Supervisors at duly scheduled meetings.

Certification

These Bylaws were approved at a meeting of the board by a two-thirds (2/3) majority vote on December 15, 2017.

These Bylaws were amended at a meeting of the board by a two-third (2/3) majority vote on April 16, 2021.

Signed copies available upon request,

Jan Winbigler, CAB Chair April 16, 2021

Appendix A

**Sacramento County Health Center Co-Applicant Board Conflict of Interest:
*Disclosure and Attestation Statement***

Conflict of Interest: Defined as an actual or perceived interest by the member in an action, which results or has the appearance of resulting in personal, organizational, or professional gain.

Duty of Loyalty: CAB members shall be faithful to the organization and can never use information obtained in his/her position as a CAB member for personal gain.

Responsibilities of CAB Members:

- A. A CAB member must declare and explain any potential conflicts of interest related to:
 - 1. Using her/his CAB appointment in any way to obtain financial gain for the member's household or family, or for any business with which the CAB member or a CAB member's household or family is associated; and/or
 - 2. Taking any action on behalf of the CAB, the effect of which would be to the member's household or family's, private financial gain or loss.
- B. No member of the CAB shall vote in a situation where a personal conflict of interest exists for that member.
- C. No voting member of the CAB shall be an employee or an immediate family member of an employee of the Health Center; however, a member may otherwise be an employee of the County or Department of Health Services.
- D. No CAB member shall be an employee or an immediate family member of an employee of a Federally Qualified Health Center.
- E. Any member may challenge any other member(s) as having a conflict of interest by the procedures outlined in the CAB's Bylaws, Article IX.

As a CAB member, my signature below acknowledges that I have received, read, had an opportunity to ask clarifying questions regarding these conflict of interest requirements and the CAB Conflict of Interest Policy and that I understand the contents of this policy as it relates to my membership and responsibilities as a CAB member in capacity of officer, expert volunteer, advocate, consumer, or County staff member. I understand that any violation of these requirements may be grounds for removal from CAB membership. I further understand that I may be subject to all other applicable state and federal conflict of interest requirements in addition to the provisions set forth in these Bylaws.

I declare that the above statement is true and accurate to the best of my knowledge and hereby attest to the fact that I am not,

_____ A Sacramento County Health Center employee; nor
INITIALS

_____ An immediate family member (defined as a spouse, child, parent, or sibling [by
INITIALS blood, adoption, or marriage] of

_____ A Sacramento County Health Center employee; nor
INITIALS

_____ A Sacramento County Health Center Co-Applicant Board Officer.
INITIALS

PRINTED NAME

SEAT NUMBER

SIGNATURE

DATE